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This nomination includes two significant historic buildings originally part of one 
ownership but currently separately owned. The Vilas-Rahr house itself is owned by 
the City of Manitowoc and operated as museum and civic center. The adjacent stable, 
built at the same time as the house, is owned by a local theater group, "The Masquers." 
Attached to the west side of the house is a major addition built in 1975 and housing 
a gallery, offices, restrooms and shipping facilities. The nomination is bounded 
by 9th Street on the west, Park Street on the south, 8th Street on the east, and 
private property lines on the north.

The Vilas-Rahr house is a two-and-one-half story building with a one-story red brick 
base. The upper stories are covered with green shingles. The main facade faces east 
and contains a gable with a Palladian window on the north side and a round engaged 
tower on the south corner. A gabled dormer on center provides additional fenestration 
for the third floor. The original front entrance was lost during remodeling, though 
the current owner intends to restore it from the original plans. The original entry 
was through a hipped-roof porch resting on round-arched supports. A porch on the 
north side repeats the round-arch theme and still exists.

The interior of the first floor has been moderately remodeled. The original plans 
contained six basic rooms with ancillary facilities: sitting room, chamber, dining 
room, reception hall, parlor and kitchen. The walls between the sitting room and 
chamber have been removed to create the large, elongated "Victorian Room." The walls 
between the reception hall and dining room have been removed to create the long 
"Center Gallery." The "Center Gallery" is currently used for changing art exhibits. 
The "Victorian Room" contains exhibits of nineteenth-century furnishings. The kitchen 
remains in use as a kitchen, though modernized during a 1950 renovation of the first 
floor. The "Rahr Parlor" occupies the original parlor and is the most original space 
on the floor. Most of the 1950 f s alterations have been removed from this room as the 
result of a private grant in 1976 from the Rahr family for its restoration. A stair 
hall between the parlor and kitchen remains intact.

On the second floor, originally containing six bed chambers, less remodeling has 
occurred. No walls have been moved, but some bath facilities have been removed and 
the spaces resulting are used for storage. Currently the six rooms are used as a 
board room and library; the "Schwartz Room" with a permanent exhibit of Chinese ivory 
carvings; one unused room to be renovated in 1977; the "Doll Room" with changing 
exhibitions of dolls; the "Schuette Indian Room" with permanent displays of prehistoric 
artifacts; and the "Pioneer Cabin" containing a free-standing replica of a pioneer 
cabin. All the rooms were wall-papered during the Rahrs* period of occupation. Since 
1950 all walls have been painted, though woodwork has been left natural. The main 
stair hall in the center of the second floor has a staircase, banister, trim, flooring 
and wainscot all of quarter-sawn oak. Above the wainscot the walls were painted in 
1950. A landing between the first and second floors contains a triple window of 
colorless leaded glass with amber medalion motifs.

On the third floor, six rooms were used as bedrooms and one had a large fresh water 
storage tank. It is used for storage and is not open to the public. Original hardwood 
and pine woodwork has been painted over.
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The large addition to the west of the house was kept to a low one-story height and 
built with compatibly-colored brick to harmonize as much as possible with the his­ 
toric house. It attaches to the house at two points on the west facade and contains 
a large courtyard between the house and the new addition. Though the addition 
clearly intrudes on the character of the house, the intrusion has been kept to an 
absolute minimum, under the circumstances, and helps to perpetuate the use and 
existence of the house by the functional enhancement it represents. It is evident 
that the protection of the character of the house was one of the primary tasks of 
the designers of the addition. For purposes of this nomination, the addition 
itself is not held to be significant.

The stable, located north of the house, is a one-and-one-half story building of 
a style compatible with the house. Originally, it served as a stable for horses, 
hay storage, and garage for three carriages. Currently it is used by a local 
theater group as a rehearsal hall, scene-making shop, boardrroom and costume 
storage facility. The only significant exterior alteration to the building is the 
filling of the original carriage entrance on the east facade and its replacement 
with a conventional door. The interior has been refurbished for the adaptive use 
to which it has been put.
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Architecture. The Vilas-Rahr house is representative of the work of a local archi­ 
tectural master, the thifd criterion of eligibility. The architectural firm of Ferry 
and Clas^; Milwaukee, which designed the house, was one of the most prestigious and 
the largest in nineteenth-century Wisconsin. The partners, George B. Ferry (1851-1918) 
and Alfred C. Clas (1860-1942), practiced together from about 1890 to shortly after 
1910,3 an(j designed several notable buildings already listed on the National Register, 
including the First Unitarian Church, the Public Library and Museum, and the Frederick 
Pabst house, all in Milwaukee, and the State Historical Society in Madison. Ferry, 
the principal designer of the firm, was educated in Springfield, Massachusetts, and 
studied architecture at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, where he was a 
classmate of Louis Henri Sullivan. Clas, who was raised in Sauk City, Wisconsin, worked 
for three architects in Milwaukee and California before establishing a partnership with 
Ferry in 1890. Stylistically, the Palladian window in the gable end and the bell-roof 
on the tower were among Ferryj s favorite motifs. The house, while retaining the 
verticality and massing of the Queen Anne, evidences an overall covering of shingles and 
quieter general effect associated with the Shingle Style... In this, the house represents 
the influence of the Shingle Style as expressed in Wisconsin in the 1890 T s and the first 
decade of the twentieth century. While not an example of the Shingle Style in the 
Eastern sense, it is among the finest examples in Wisconsin of this influence. Here, 
the Queen Anne is maintained in general plan and massing while the more superficial 
aspects of the Shingle Style — a covering of shingles coupled with a masonry base — 
are used to update the design. Compared to eastern Shingle Style houses the plan is 
relatively compartmentalized, further illustrating the conservatism of midwestern 
design during a period of primarily eastern innovations in open planning.

History. The house is associated with persons significant in Manitowoc f s past, the 
second criterion of eligibility. It was built starting in 1891 for Joseph Vilas, Jr. 
(1832-1905), who occupied it in 1893 and lived there until his death. Vilas was 
instrumental in promoting railroad development in Manitowoc in the 1870*s. He persuaded 
the county to vote a bond issue for the construction of the Milwaukee, Lake Shore and 
Western Railroad and served for a number of years as president of the company and 
trustee for its bond holders. He was instrumental in connecting Milwaukee and Appleton

!• Manitowoc, Wisconsin Illustrated, pp. 6-7; Manitowoc Pilot, April 20, 1893.
2. Plans for house by Ferry and Clas.
3. Milwaukee City Directories.
4. Wisconsin's Inventory of Historic Places.
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to Manitowoc, and served as a company director until 1892, when the Chicago and 
North Western acquired the line. From 1863 to 1864, Vilas served as a state 
senator; and from 1893 to 1895 he was mayor of Manitowoc. He was also active in 
numerous other eastern Wisconsin businesses.

In 1910 Reinhardt Rahr acquired Vilas' house and, the same year, established a 
local brewery and malt house with his father, William, and two brothers. The 
brewery became a significant local industry and important to Manitowoc 1 s economy. 
It was eventually acquired by Anheuser-Busch, Inc. Reinhardt Rahr died in 1921, 
and the family continued to occupy the house until 1941 when his widow and son, 
Guide, deeded the house to the City."

Thus for some fifty years the house was owned and occupied by individuals who were 
involved in key local business enterprises. For the subsequent 35 years it has 
been operated as a public museum by the city government, its current owner.

5. Dictionary of Wisconsin Biography, pp. 360-361.
6. Hutchinson letter of November 24, 1975.
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